## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC07-2258

Samuel L. Smithers
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA
Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 13th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Fla. Bar No. 0558893 STAFF ATTORNEY

JAMES VIGGIANO, JR. Fla. Bar No. 0715336 STAFF ATTORNEY

ALI A. SHAKOOR
Fla. Bar No. 0669830
STAFF ATTORNEY
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL
MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544

## **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A Hillsborough County grand jury returned a two-count indictment on June 12, 1996 charging Samuel Smithers with the first degree murders of Cristy Cowan and Denise Roach. (FSC ROA VOL. I p. 22-23). The murder of Cowan was alleged to have taken place May 28, 1996 and the murder of Roach sometime between May 12, 1996 and May 28, 1996. (FSC ROA Vol. I p. 22).

Prior to trial, Mr. Smithers filed motions on May 21, 1998 to sever the offenses and to suppress his confession. (FSC ROA Vol. I p. 64-67). The court issued an order denying the motion to suppress confession on July 22, 1998. (FSC ROA Vol. I p. 69-73A). After hearing additional argument concerning the motion to sever on August 13, 1998 (FSC ROA Vol. SII 235-71), the judge entered a written order denying severance August 24, 1998. (FSC ROA Vol. I p. 81-85).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Fuente and a jury. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 164-5; Vol. XI p. 1338). Mr. Smithers filed a motion for new trial which was heard and denied by the court on January 23, 1999. (FSC ROA Vol. XVII p. 2235-8).

The penalty phase commenced on January 22, 1999. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 193 XII p.1357). The jury recommended that Mr. Smithers be sentenced to death for both murders. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 209; XVIII p. 2351). A Spencer hearing was held on April 15 and 16, 1999. (FSC ROA Vol. SIII p. 425-541; SVI p.759-79). Sentencing was held June 25, 1999, at which time the court read his sentencing order. (FSC ROA Vol. II pl 245-61; XIX p. 2362-82). The court concluded that as to both homicides, the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 259-60; XIX p. 2381-2; A 15-16). Two sentences of death were imposed. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 260, 264-74; XIX p. 2382, A 16). Mr. Smithers' notice of appeal was filed July 19, 1999. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 275-6).

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentences on May 16, 2002 in Smithers v. State, 826 So.2d 916 (Fla.2002). The mandate was issued on September 13, 2002. A petition for certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court and denied on February 24, 2003.

On December 22, 2003, Mr. Smithers filed a 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief With Special Request For Leave To Amend before he had received the public

records to which he was entitled under 3.853(e) and the records that were the subject of his Demand. Mr. Smithers filed the 3.852 at that time to comply with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 and preserve his rights to federal review. At the same time, Mr. Smithers filed a Motion to Amend once the public records acquisition process was complete.

On January 28, 2004, the Court issued an Order, directing the State to respond to both motions within 60 days of December 22, 2003. On February 20, 2004, the State filed a response to the 3.851 motion. On February 26, 2004, Mr. Smithers filed a Request for Additional Public Records, directed to the Office of the State Attorney. The Court denied the request for additional public records at a hearing on March 17, 2004.

Mr. Smithers filed on July 13, 2004 his Renewed Motion For Incamera Review Of Records The State Attorney Marked Exempt From Disclosure Under Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure 3.852. The hearing on the motion was held on July 22, 2004. The court, on October 12, 2004, entered an Order Denying Renewed Motion For In Camera Review Of Records The State Attorney Marked Exempt From Disclosure Under Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure 3.852.

Status reviews were held on December 13, 2004 and on March 7, 2005. The Defendant's Second Renewed Motion for In Camera Review of Records the State Attorney Marked Exempt from Disclosure Under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure

3.852 was filed on March 4, 2005 and heard on April 20, 2005. On April 25, 2005, The court issued an Order For In Camera Review Of Records The State Attorney Marked Exempt From Disclosure Under Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure 3.852.

Status reviews were set on July 11, 2005, July 20, 2005, August 24, 2005, and November 3, 2005. The Defendant's last Amended Motion to Vacate Judgement of Conviction and Sentence was filed on April 5, 2006. An evidentiary hearing was held on the 16<sup>th</sup> and 17<sup>th</sup> of August, 2007. Both the State and the Defendant waived oral and written closing arguments. The trial court issued a written denial of the Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment Of Conviction And Sentence on October 24, 2007. This appeal follows.

#### **EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

#### A. Testimony of Ronald Keith Wright, M.D.

Dr. Wright was a forensic pathologist and testified at the evidentiary hearing telephonically. Dr. Wright was tendered as an expert in the field of forensic pathology. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1015). Dr. Wright was retained to render an opinion as to the cause of death of Christy Cowan. He reviewed the police report, the autopsy report, photographs taken at the scene and autopsy, and the testimony of Dr. Hair at the trial of Mr. Smithers. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1016). Dr. Wright opined that Christy Cowan was asphyxiated; her neck was compressed with internal hemorrhage and consistent with manual strangulation. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1018). Dr. Wright further opined that

Cowan's lungs were "relatively light" in that a normal drowning victim's lungs would weigh 1.000 grams or more and in Cowan's case her lung weights were down in the 400 to 500 gram range, which while not completely disproving drowning, it's certainly inconsistent with drowning. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1019). There was no hemorrhaging to the mastoid air sinuses which is seen in people who struggle when they drown. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1019).

Dr. Wright testified that when a person drowns in freshwater, the blood volume goes up remarkably and the result is acute right-heart fibrillation. It is seen in almost all drowning cases and was absent in this case. (PCR Vol. VII p.1020).

Dr. Wright detailed the blunt impact blows. All of the wounds appear to either be perimortem or postmortem. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1020-21). Dr. Wright testified that in all probability, Cowan was manually strangled first and then hit after she was strangled. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1023).

### B. Testimony of Cereesa "Mikey" Snyder

Ms. Snyder was a neighbor of Mr. Smithers and had been for ten years prior to his arrest. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1033). Ms. Snyder described Mr. Smithers as being "a little slow", friendly, sweet and good to her children. Then she began to see a change. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1034). There was an occasion in 1996 when she and her husband went to California for their 20<sup>th</sup> anniversary and her mother babysat their children. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1034). While in California, Ms. Snyder received a call from her

mother who was babysitting the Snyder children. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1034). This phone call took place in May of 1996; between the first murder and the second murder. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1035). Caresa Snyder learned through her mother, that Smithers had been "ranting and raving." Smithers looked wild eyed and made statements about "killing niggers" in Tennessee. (PCR Vol. VII 1035).

Prior to the initial murders, Ms. Snyder had taken a youth group to ski and had asked Mr. Smithers and his wife Sharon to watch their home; they had been given a key for that purpose. The couple came home from the ski trip on New Year's Eve day. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1035). The Snyders returned a day earlier than expected. When they arrived home, they found that every drawer was pulled out and the contents scattered. Every small appliance was put on the kitchen table as if the burglar was going to come back later. Cereal had been eaten. Someone had gone in the garage and "messed around." In Ms. Snyder's bedroom, all of her underwear was out of the drawer and laying on her side of the bed. The police were called. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1036). The only item that was missing was a Black and Decker electric screwdriver. Later, when Sharon Smithers and her son Jonathan were moving out of their home, Ms. Snyder's son went over to help. In the garage, the Black and Decker screwdriver that had been taken from the Snyder home was found. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1037). Ms. Snyder testified that she had never been contacted by trial counsel and would have been willing to testify at Mr. Smithers' trial. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1042).

#### C. Testimony of Gerald Dean Snyder

Gerald Dean Snyder testified at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. VII p.1047-1057). Mr. Snyder testified that he knew Samuel Smithers for approximately ten years before Smithers' arrest. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1047). Mr. Snyder did not enjoy socializing with Mr. Smithers because Mr. Snyder felt that the dialogue sometimes was somewhat difficult for Sam Smithers due to the fact that Mr. Snyder considered Sam Smithers to be "somewhat slow". (PCR Vol. VII p. 1048). Mr. Snyder was aware of the influence of Mr. Bill Powell, father-in-law to Sam Smithers. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1049). Mr. Snyder described Mr. Powell's relationship to the Smithers family as very close. Mr. & Mrs. Powell were always there at Christmastime and they had an ongoing relationship with Sam's son Jonathan. Mr. Powell was very active in their church and community. Mr. Powell became ill and he progressed to the point to where he was in a nursing home. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1049). Mr. Snyder testified that this had a large impact on Sam Smithers because Mr. Powell was the stabilizer of the family and also provided supplemental income at times. Mr. Powell also provided work opportunities for Sam Smithers. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1049). After Mr. Powell became ill, Mr. Snyder noticed that Sam lost a couple of jobs and the stress level for Sam became increasing larger than where it was before. Obviously, Mr. Powell was a large influence on Sam. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1049-50). Mr. Snyder testified that he had seen a Bentley before and would have recognized a Bentley if he had seen one outside of his home in 1996.

(PCR Vol. VII p. 1050).

Mr. Snyder testified that he never saw a Bentley pull up in front of his house while he was talking to Sam Smithers. There was no man in his 40s with a salt and pepper beard who allegedly got out of the Bentley while Mr. Snyder and Sam Smithers were talking, and he certainly would have remembered it if the incident happened. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1050-1). Mr. Snyder testified that if he was contacted at the time of trial he would have been willing to testify. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1052). On cross examination, Mr. Snyder testified that upon Mr. Powell's entry into the nursing home, Mr. Snyder noticed that Sam had "glassy eyes" and was withdrawn. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1055).

#### D. Testimony of Dr. Michael Scott Maher, M. D.

Dr. Michael Scott Maher, M.D. testified at Mr. Smithers' trial and at the evidentiary hearing. Dr. Maher was qualified as a medical doctor and an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1058). Dr. Maher was retained by trial counsel to evaluate Mr. Smithers for his original trial. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1059).

At his original trial, Dr. Maher evaluated Mr. Smithers by reviewing records including police investigation records. He interviewed Mr. Smithers, and performed a mental status examination on him. Dr. Maher also reviewed a number of depositions of significant case witnesses. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1060).

Dr. Maher also interviewed Mr. Smithers' then wife, Sharon and consulted with

Dr. Wood and Dr. Berland, and eventually recommended that Mr. Smithers get a PET scan. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1061). Dr. Maher also performed some psychological tests on Mr. Smithers and reviewed his school records. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1061-62). It was clear to Dr. Maher that early on in the investigation and evaluation, and after meeting Mr. Smithers, it was extremely important for Mr. Smithers to appear psychologically normal. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1062). The importance of appearing psychologically normal is prevalent in clinical as well as forensic patients. Dr. Maher opined that seriously mentally ill people do not want others to know that they have a serious mental illness. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1063).

Dr. Maher described his clinical interview with Mr. Smithers as talking to him about general matters related to his life background and circumstances. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1064). Dr. Maher also spoke to Smithers about his present-day situation. At the initial evaluation the circumstances were focused on Mr. Smithers being incarcerated and charged with two counts of murder. Dr. Maher observed his emotions and his inner actions. He asked Mr. Smithers some specific kinds of questions to try to get at underlying psychological issues and problems. Dr. Maher repeated those procedures a number of occasions in order to attempt to reveal and enlighten himself with regard to any factors that Mr. Smithers may be reluctant to reveal. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1065). Dr. Maher remembered testifying at trial that:

The most striking aspect of the mental status exam with Mr.

Smithers he uses tremendous amounts of what is called psychological denial. We need to be careful here because psychological denial is not the same kind of denial you think of when someone takes something from a cookie jar and you ask them did they steal something from a cookie jar and they say no, I didn't take it. Psychological denial is something that traits on a much more unconscious level. A person who using a great deal of psychological denial is a person who tends to say to an examiner or someone in their life when asked how are things going, they tend to say, everything is fine. Well, are you having problems at work? No, I'm not having any problems with work. Well, do you have any problems with your family life? No, everything is fine, even when there are things that are a problem. (FSC ROA Vol XV p. 1866-67)

Dr. Maher opined that if he did not have extra information from an outside source regarding Mr. Smithers' habits and actions, an examiner such as himself would have nothing to contradict a statement that "everything is fine". (PCR Vol. VII p. 1066). Both Dr. Berland and Dr. Maher gave Mr. Smithers the MMPI 2 test. The eighth scale; the psychosis scale, was elevated. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1067). Dr. Maher described psychosis as a condition of brain dysfunction which often is associated with hallucinations that are false perceptions as well as delusions those being grotesquely and bizarrely false thoughts, and also apparent of illogical thinking where things that are not mutually compatible might be believed to be true. In layman's terms, a break with reality. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1067). Dr. Maher distinguished psychosis from dissociative disorder in that a dissociative disorder exists in anywhere from a very mild to a rather extreme form. A dissociative disorder is a distortion of reality in most

instances. In the most extreme form it may be a break with reality. However, it is generally a distortion of reality and generally does not include hallucinations or delusions. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1068). Dr. Maher explained the difference between a delusion and a hallucination in this manner:

A "hallucination" is a perception of a false belief. For example, auditory hallucinations may be in the form of hearing voices of people who are not really there and believing their external voices, not some internal dialogue. A "delusion" is a false belief such as the belief that if I clap my hands three times and stand on my head I can buy a lottery ticket and win the lottery. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1068).

Dr. Maher testified that during the mental status test done at the time of trial, he observed no indications of hallucinations or delusions. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1068-9). However, Dr. Maher conceded that just because he did not observe any direct indications of delusions while he was talking to Mr. Smithers, that automatically does not exclude the possibility that Mr. Smithers did suffer from hallucinations or delusions. Dr. Maher by and large agreed with Dr. Berland's assessment of Mr. Smithers with the exception that where Dr. Berland felt psychosis was present, Dr. Maher did not see sufficient evidence that he felt comfortable testifying that it was present. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1069). Dr. Maher testified that he had previously reviewed Defense exhibit 6, which was an investigative report given to attorney Scott Robbins by Ms. Diane Fernandez regarding Dean Snyder and "Mr. X". (PCR Vol. VII p. 1071). Dr. Maher opined that this report was significant in that it's an event that

occurred during - shortly before a particularly unusual time in Mr.Smithers' life. This event which on one hand might seem trivial, but, on the other hand, it's a pretty clear and objective event that is someone stopping in an expensive car having some interaction or conversation and then driving away. And it's an event which Mr. Smithers reported and also reported that someone else observed the event. The person who he reported to have observed the event indicates very clearly and categorically that it did not occur. That is a pretty strong suggestion of psychosis or a drug-induced delirium or some other very substantial disturbance of perception and reality. (PCR Vol VII p. 1072-73).

Dr. Maher testified that the fact that Dean Snyder never saw a man in a Bentley, and never saw him engage in conversation with Mr. Smithers, would be a documented incident of a psychotic episode. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1074-75). Dr. Maher testified that an incident such as this which is clear and definite would have led him to conclude that Mr. Smithers was psychotic previously (at the time of the offense). (PCR Vol. VII p. 1075).

Dr. Maher was read a portion of a police report which detailed Mr. Smithers' confession; in particular, the issue of whether or not Christy Cowan was alive when Smithers dragged her to the pond at the time Marion Whitehurst arrived at the crime scene. Dr. Maher also had reviewed the autopsy report of Christy Cowan and had reviewed the report of Dr. Ronald K. Wright. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1076-78). Based on

the testimony of Marion Whitehurst, when Whitehurst was standing nearer to the pond than Mr. Smithers and yet still did not hear anything, Dr. Maher opined that Mr. Smithers was hearing things that a person standing nearer to the pond did not hear at all; this would be further evidence of psychosis. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1081).

As to Mr. Smithers' identity structure, Dr. Maher testified as follows:

Mr. Smithers has a simplistic and rather rigid identity structure, rather of an immature adolescent who arrives at an identity without much sophistication. It is a type of identity structure which tends to include all or nothing thinking, black and white thinking. Yes or no thinking. Not a lot of gray areas. It is a type of identity structure which when such an individual is under stress or is distressed or functions in an ineffective way they tend to break rather than bend. So that is the type of individual who is likely to decompensate severely and behave in a manner which is out of character when they are severely ill or under stress. potentially decompensate under other And then circumstances and appear to be their normal self. So in this case where there is substantial evidence of psychosis and this personality structure present this is the type of an individual who is likely to do something very much out of character when he's psychotic rather than something which is simply a little peculiar. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1082).

Dr. Maher was unaware that defense trial counsel had not talked to Dean Snyder and that information was critical information which was not available at trial. Furthermore, Dr. Maher testified that Ms. Whitehurst's testimony, where she was standing closer to the pond than was Mr. Smithers was also critical and would have documented another incident of psychosis, and this information was also unknown to Dr. Maher. (PCR

Vol. VII p. 1083). Dr. Maher, upon cross-examination, admitted that his original diagnosis at the time of Mr. Smithers' trial was dissociative episode disorder. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1084). Due to the evidence adduced at the evidentiary hearing, the observations of the Snyders and the testimony of Ms. Whitehurst regarding hearing the victim holler from the direction of the pond, Dr. Maher is changing his diagnosis from the original trial. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1085). Based on this new information, Dr. Maher changed his diagnosis from dissociative episodes to psychotic episode recurrent. (PCR Vol. VII p. 1086). During cross examination, the State tried to infer that Mr. Smithers' testimony was nothing but a "big fat lie", Maher opined that: "[W]hat is more likely is that it is an indication of being out of touch with reality and therefore consistent with a psychotic episode." (PCR Vol. VII p. 1089).

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