IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMUEL L. SMITHERS

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC07-2258 Lower Tribunal No. 96-8093

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Chief Assistant Attorney General
Capital Appeals Bureau Chief
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

no deficient performance. Further, even if counsel were deficient, appellant must still establish prejudice, i.e. that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. A review of the trial court's sentencing order alone refutes any contention that this minor change in diagnosis would have altered the outcome.

Smithers' next sub-claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to hire an independent medical examiner to refute evidence that Cristy Cowan may have drowned. As the court correctly noted, Smithers' assertion that a defense expert would have been able to refute evidence which established that Cowan was alive when she was put in the pond undermining two aggravating factors - HAC & CCP, is not supported by the evidence as neither court relied on the drowning to support either factor. Further, Smithers has failed to show that he was prejudiced. Given the fact that the drowning was not the primary basis of either factor and in light of the weighty aggravators found in the Cowan murder, including a second virtually identical homicide, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT DEFENDANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE GUILT PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL.

Smithers urges on appeal that his guilt phase counsel was ineffective for a) failing to move to strike prospective juror Collins and b) failing to move to keep the racial bias portion of Smithers' confession from the jury. Both issues were the subject matter of the evidentiary hearing below and relief was denied. reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a rule 3.851 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial Riechmann v. State, 966 So. 2d 298, 316 (Fla. 2007) with rulings on other postconviction claims, this Court reviews the trial court's application of the law to the facts de novo. Reichmann, citing, Hendrix v. State, 908 So. 2d 412, 423 (Fla.

¹ Smithers has not attempted to seek review of the underlying claims on the merits. The state notes, however, that such review is procedurally barred as they are issues that could have been raised on direct appeal.

2005) (reviewing *de novo* the trial court's application of the law to the facts in ruling on a postconviction claim that the government withheld material evidence); *Gore v. State*, 846 So. 2d 461, 468 (Fla. 2003) (reviewing *de novo* the application of the law to the facts on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel).

As the following will show, the lower court's denial of relief was supported by competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

A) Failure to Move to Strike Prospective Juror Collins

Smithers' first claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to strike juror Collins. In order to establish an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, defendant has the burden of showing that counsel's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by that deficient performance such that the results of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686-687 and 694 (1984). If a defendant fails to establish either prong, relief must be denied.

In the instant case, the postconviction court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issue. Subsequently, the court denied relief based on a finding that counsel's performance was not deficient and, therefore, did not reach the prejudice prong. The court stated:

Defendant asserts counsel should have exercised a cause challenge or a peremptory challenge to remove juror

Collins. (See amended motion, page 7) He cites Morgan v. Illinois, 504 U.S. 719 (1992). In Morgan, the Supreme Court held, inter alia, that "[a] juror who will automatically vote for the death penalty in every case will fail in good faith to consider the evidence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances as the instructions require him to do." $\underline{\text{Id}}$. at 729 (emphasis added).

The instant case is distinguishable from Morgan juror Collins did not state he automatically vote for the death penalty. In fact, during voir dire counsel Robbins asked the jurors to rate on a scale of "one to ten" how they felt about the death penalty, with "one" representing the feeling that under no circumstances should the death penalty be imposed, and "ten" representing the feeling the death penalty should be imposed in every case. (V2/220-221) In response, juror Collins stated he felt he was a "seven" on the scale. (V2/221) He agreed that in some circumstances, even if a person had been convicted of first degree murder, the death penalty might not be warranted. (V2/221-222) In contrast to being "automatically" in favor of the death penalty, juror Collins stated he understood that the death penalty is not to be considered in every case, and that he was "not totally for it or against it."

It is clear from the record that juror Collins would not recommend death regardless of the facts and circumstances of a conviction. Counsel Robbins testified he would almost always challenge jurors who were at "nines and tens" for cause, but that juror Collins did not meet that category. (See 17 August 2007 transcript, page 171) He testified he took into account juror Collins' opinions regarding childhood abuse as a factor that could be given weight when determining whether to recommend the death penalty, and believed that could work in Defendant's favor. (See 17 August 2007 transcript, page 172-173) Ultimately, defense counsel Robbins concluded he did not have grounds to strike juror Collins for cause.

Defense counsel Robbins was not deficient in his performance.

(PCR 2/314-16)(emphasis in original)(footnotes omitted)

Counsel's explanation of how he selected jurors and why he would not have removed juror Collins establishes that this is not a case where counsel simply overlooked a potentially biased juror's response but, rather, reflects a reasonable strategic decision based on his considerable expertise with jury trials. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (U.S. 1984) (strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable.) The trial court's factual findings were supported by competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed. Riechmann, supra.

Moreover, even if defense counsel's conclusion that he did not have grounds to strike juror Collins for cause was unreasonable, appellant must still establish prejudice, i.e. that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. Where a postconviction motion alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise or preserve a cause challenge, "the defendant must demonstrate that a juror was actually biased to be entitled to relief." Carratelli v. State, 961 So. 2d 312, 321 (Fla. 2007). Following Caratelli, this Court in Owen v. State, rejected a jury challenge based on the jurors' responses concerning the death penalty, stating:

Owen argues that trial counsel should have removed two jurors, jurors Matousek and Griffin, because those jurors indicated a personal belief that the death penalty should be automatically imposed under certain circumstances. This argument is without merit. The record demonstrates that despite her personal viewpoint, juror Matousek

stated a willingness and ability to lay aside her possible bias and follow the trial court's instructions. Juror Matousek never equivocated as to whether she could follow the law, and accordingly, Owen has not shown her to be actually biased. Juror Griffin's responses during voir dire created some doubt as to whether she could lay aside her belief and apply the law in the circumstance of multiple victims. However, as set forth in Carratelli, while the standard for obtaining a reversal upon the erroneous denial of a cause challenge on direct appeal is relatively lenient, consideration of a postconviction claim must be more restrictive. 961 So. 2d at 320. To be entitled to postconviction relief, Owen must demonstrate that juror Griffin was actually biased, not merely that there was doubt about her impartiality. While Griffin answered that she "[p]robably" would vote for the death penalty in the circumstance of multiple victims and gave confusing answers regarding how she would consider mitigating evidence, she ultimately stated that she would consider mental health testimony and that such testimony could influence her toward a life sentence. No "evidence of bias" is "plain on the face of the record." Id. at 324. [fn12] Thus, Owen did not demonstrate that juror Griffin was actually biased.

Owen v. State, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 809, 27-28 (Fla. May 8, 2008)(footnote omitted)

The state maintains that for the same reasons the trial court denied relief on the deficiency prong, the evidence in the instant case does not support a conclusion that a truly biased juror actually sat on the jury. As the trial court found, "[i]t is clear from the record that juror Collins would not recommend death regardless of the facts and circumstances of a conviction." In contrast to the contention that the juror was "automatically" in favor of the death penalty, the trial court found that "juror Collins stated he understood that the death penalty is not to be considered in every case, and that he was 'not totally for it or

against it.'" (PCR 2/314-16) Again, the trial court's factual findings were supported by competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed. *Riechmann*, supra. Relief was properly denied and should be affirmed.

B) Failing to Move to Keep the Racial Bias Portion of Smithers' Confession from the Jury

Smithers next claims that counsel should have sought the exclusion of the portion of his confession where he claimed that prejudice because she was black may have set in.² He provides absolutely no legal basis for excluding this statement. He only asserts that as the state's theory did not rest on race as a motive for the killing, it was not relevant. The state's theory did, however, include intent and identity and this statement is evidence of both. More importantly, the issue before this Court is not whether the prejudicial impact outweighed the probative impact, but, rather, whether Smithers' counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient for failing to file a motion in limine to exclude a relevant part of the defendant's own confession and

(DR 9/1056)

² The full statement introduced was as follows:

Q. Did anything kick in that make her - made him hit her again?

A. He said that some prejudice may have set in so he hit her again.

Q. And that is because she was black?

A. Yes.

whether the failure to do so prejudiced the defendant that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for the failure to file the motion in limine. As the following will show, counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

This claim was the subject of an evidentiary hearing below. The trial court reviewed the legal argument and the evidence, including defense counsel's testimony on the issue and denied relief finding neither deficient performance nor prejudice. The court explained:

The State responds that the inclusion of the portion of his confession that prejudice towards Denise Roach may have set in during the attack was not so prejudicial that confidence in the outcome of the proceedings was undermined. (See response, page 15, attached) The State cites to Strickland, and asserts Defendant cannot show that "but for failing to object to the inclusion of this statement in the confession there is a reasonable probability" the result of the proceeding would have been different. (See response, page 15-16, attached)

This Court agrees. Defense counsel Hernandez testified he believed the fact Defendant may have had some prejudice toward the victim was "inextricably intertwined with the facts of the case." (See 17 August 2007 transcript, page 121, attached) He admitted the racial bias aspect of Defendant's confession could have been prejudicial, but in his opinion, it was not a target for a motion in limine. (See 17 August 2007 transcript page 121-122, 133-135, attached)

As cited by the State, the test for admissibility of evidence is relevancy. Smith v. State, 866 So.2d 51, 61 (Fla. 2004). In Smith, the Florida Supreme Court held admissible, testimony from an eyewitness regarding the defendant's statement that the victim was the thirteenth or fourteenth person he had shot. $\underline{\text{Id}}$. at 62. The Court noted "[a]ll evidence that points to a defendant's commission of a crime is prejudicial." $\underline{\text{Id}}$. at 61.

The fact that evidence of racial bias was prejudicial does not mean counsel was deficient for failing to attempt to exclude the evidence. Rather, it was the reasonable professional judgment of counsel to believe the racial bias was inextricably intertwined with the crime charged. Defendant does not establish that inclusion of the racial bias statement from his confession was so prejudicial that confidence in the outcome was undermined.

Neither defense counsel was (sic) not deficient in their performance. Claim I (B) is denied.

(PCR 2/317-19)(footnotes omitted)

This Court has upheld the admission of racial comments contained in the defendant's confession where the statement was relevant and there is no evidence that there was any attempt to inject race as an issue in the trial, or an impermissible appeal to bias and prejudice. This issue was thoroughly discussed in Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1023 (Fla. 1999), wherein this Court affirmed the admission of racial comments made by Jones during a statement to police. Citing to the holdings in Phillips v. State, 476 So. 2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1985), receded from on other grounds, Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987) (holding that admission testimony of a fellow inmate that the defendant used racial slurs when referring to the victim was relevant to discredit appellant's alibi and to explain the context of an incriminating admission and not error) and Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108, 113 1991) (rejecting as "meritless" the black defendant's argument that his statement to police about shooting a "white

woman" should have been edited to avoid the risk of racial prejudice), this Court explained:

In this case the jury was informed that Jones used a racial slur when he first gave his version of events to explain the scratches on his face in an attempt to deny his involvement in the murder. The detective did not repeat the racial slur but only indicated that a racial slur was used. Therefore, in this case we do not agree that the comments constituted impermissible appeals to the biases or prejudices of the jurors.

Although we strongly caution prosecutors eliciting testimony involving racial slurs absolutely necessary, we understand that there are limited circumstances where the use of such offensive terms may be directly material to the issues in the case or to the testimony being offered. In this case, although we agree that it was necessary to tell the jury of Jones' initial explanation concerning the source of the scratch marks, we question whether it was necessary for Detective Parker to mention that a racial slur was used by Jones. In circumstances such as this, we strongly suggest that prosecutors err on the side of caution by omitting these statements and that trial courts consider the danger that prejudicial effect evidence of such substantially outweigh any probative value. See § 90.403, Fla. Stat. (1995).

However, in this case, we do not find that there was any attempt to inject race as an issue in the trial, or an impermissible appeal to bias and prejudice. We further note that Jones was a white male charged with murdering a white female. In addition, the actual racial slur was not used before the jury and the comment was not repeated or subsequently highlighted. Based on the foregoing, we find that even if the admission of this reference to Jones using a racial slur was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d at 1135.

Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1023 (Fla. 1999)

See, also, *Sliney v. State*, 699 So. 2d 662, 669-670 (Fla. 1997) (upholding admission of tape-recorded conversations of

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